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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

As it stands today, Trotter's Warehouse appears to be a rare survivor in downtown Lexington

of business buildings common shortly after the close of the Civil War. The lacy ironwork grills
fitted into elliptical openings just below the roofline, the paired Italianate brackets in the cornice,
the oriel windows are all typical of late 19th-century architecture and give an imposing look to
an earlier, much plainer building.

Many features of the earlier structure survive. The original Flemish bond brickwork can be
seen on the side fronting Vine Street (formerly Water Street) and Mill Street. The Water Street
facade appears also to have had a water table of purpose-molded brick, visible at the southeast
wgll of the Water Street cellar. This indicates that perhaps the early building fronted Water
Street (such a building is shown on the 1871 Birdseye Perspective of Lexington, but that view
has some known distortions). Remanants of another water table are at the north end of the

Mill $treet facade.

The building also comtainedat one time an ell, which ran from the structure's north wall parallel
with Mill Street. Part of the roof of the ell can be seen in the present garret.

The roofline was originally lower, heightened in the latter half of the 19th century. Some time
after the Civil War (possibly in the mid-1860s when a jump in property value occurs) the
structure was remodeled to reflect architectural detailing then in vogue. The Water and Mill
Street walls were then raised, the added height made in common bond. On the second-story
southwest side facing Vine Street, is a surviving late 19th-century Italianate segmental cast-
iron hoodmold that reflects an earlier stage in the building's history.

*
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Trotter's Warehouse, built circa 1802 in downtown Lexington by Samuel and Q oo Trotter
as part of their vast business empire, can be viewed as a typical, documented history of a
/small business in early Lexington. Importance also rests on its reputed role in medical

education by its use c. 1815 as a classroom for Transylvania University. Its architectural
significance lies with its early construction date and the location of the building in an other-
wise undistinguished block, although there are other important structures nearby, notably
the McAdams and Morford Building (placed on the National Register October 25, 1973) and
the Courthouse Square.

The Trotter brothers were engaged in many commercial enterprises in Lexington during the
turn of the 19th century and owned numerous stores, factories and properties; among these
was the entire block of buildings on the east side of Mill Street between Main and Water (now
Vine). The deed history of this block begins with its purchase in 1802 by them from George
Anderson and his wife Rhoda for 750 pounds; it was part of in-lot number 45. '(In "in-lots"
of one-half acre each and so many ''out-lots" five acres each.) The middle fork of Elkhorn
known as Town Branch, ran along what is known today as Vine Street, and Trotter's Ware-
house probably faced Town Branch in its early years. The warehouse-wa s sold in 1848 to
James C. Butler by William A. Leavy and wife, Mary Ann, and Georgetfe Trotter, heirs

of Samuel Trotter, and came down without any major changes in properfy lines although at some
time the alley leading to the '"necessary," belonging to Trotter's Warehouse, was enclosed.
The property jumped greatly in value between 1864, when Joseph Milward bought it from
James C. Butler for $4000, and 1865, when Milward sold it to D. F. Wolf for $6500; this may
have been the time of its extensive remodeling to its current appearance. Interestingly,
Wolf is listed in the 1873 Directory as being from N. Dresden, Germany.

City Directories through 1900 show many different small businesses at Trotter's Warehouse
These included L. P. Milward's Tin Shop; the Wolf and Trost Reed Band; George Schange &
Bro., fruits etc.; J. McKeown, shoemaker; Saxton & Trost Military Band and Orchestra;
Schooler and Scott, Barber Shop (colored); J. F. Burton, cleaning and renovating (colored)’

(continued)
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Sol Sochet, shoes, furnishings. From 1867, however, the corner business was a saloon;
Wolf & Yellman Beer saloon (1867), V. Gailer (1873), L. Brown (1877-78), Charles B.
Gilman saloon and restaurant (1881-82, 1883-84, 1887,1888, 1890, 1893, 1895), Richard
Perkins (1898-99). And it was leased to Christian Moelin Brewing Co. by Julia A, Wolf
(1901-03). An advertisement in the 1888 City Directory for the "Corner House Saloons'
called it "The Finest & Most Elegant Saloon in the city.

Aside from the building's long history as a busitess establishment, it has also been recorded
that "Dr. Frederick Ridgely of Transylvania Unjversity, who was the first to teach medicine
by lecture in 'the West,' was said to have held his class meetings in early days' in Trotter's
Warehouse. Further "Dr. David J. Ayres, together with other Transylvania University
students, in 1815, organized a class and had Dr. Benjamin W. Dudley give lectures on anatomy
and surgery in 'Trotter' s Warehouse' before there was any medical school" (Dunn, p. 622).

Transylvania University was formed in 1798 with the merger of Transylvania Seminary and
Kentucky Academy. The medical department was added in 1799 with Dr. Samuel Brown as
its first professor of medicine. Dr. Frederick Ridgely, who was appointed a medical pro-
fessor very shortly after Dr. Brown, was the first to teach medicineby lectures in the West,
according to historian G. W. Ranck (Ranck, p. 44).

An effort was made to organize a medical school in 1809, the year of Dr. B. W. Dudley's
appointment to the staff. Dudley was a celebrated surgeon widely known for his successful
operations in lithotomy (Jennings, p. 106). He remained with the university until 1851.

(continued)

1 C. Frank Dunn, G.W. Ranck, Robert Peter all state that classes were held in
"Trotter's Warehouse, ' identifying it as '"a house situated on the corner of Main 4 nd Mill
Streets" (Peter, p. 29). The building known as Trotter's Warehouse identified on .
early maps, however, is located on the corner of Mill and Water (Vine) Street. Either an
adjacent building to the extant one was also known as Trotter's Warehouse or the street
location listed in the source material is in error.
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It was during the first two decades of the 19th century under the administration of Dr. Horace
Holley, third president of Transylvania, that the university attracted such a large number of
out-of-state students, primarily due to the reputation of the medical school (Jennings, pp.
105-06). Holley reorganized the college and "the medical school in particular dates its aston-
ishing progress from this time, when the eminent surgeon, Dr. B. W. Dudley, the apostle of
phrenology in the West," and others were called to its chairs (Ranck, p. 47). "In 1827, " writes
Ranck, ''the medical college had attained such a position and celebrity as to be regarded as
second only to the University of Pennsylvania' (Ranck p. 48). Holley's resignation in 1827
dealt a heavy blow to the school from which it never fully recovered.

Bettye Lee Mastin of the Lexington Herald-Leader states that citizens of Lexington consider
this building an important element in the visual environment of the city. It is the only sur-
vivor of its period in downtown Lexington in that block of Mill and also south of Main Street.
It has a strategic location, holds down an important corner, and gives it architectural char-
acter. It is across from a new hotel to be built on Vine and the new Citizens Union Bank and
two blocks from the Civic Center presently under construction, which certainly increases the
value of this property in the eyes of developers.

#6 Survey of Historic Sites in Kentucky (Supplement)
March 1975

Kentucky Heritage Commission

Frankfort, Kentucky
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Peter, Robert. The History of the Medical Department of Transylvania University.
Louisville: John P. Morton and Co., 1905,

Ranck, George. History of Lexington. Cincinnati: Robert Clarke and Co., 1872.

The deed to Trotter's Warehouse was traced in the Fayette County Courthouse, Lexington,
Kentucky.

Lexington City Directories before 1900 also were consulted.
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